



Original: English

Key changes to pandemic plans by Member States of the WHO European Region based on lessons learnt from the 2009 pandemic "Good practice dictates that we do not simply identify lessons learnt from pandemic preparedness evaluations; we must use these lessons to enhance preparedness. We commend the countries of the European Region for their commitment to incorporating these lessons into revised preparedness plans."

-ECDC Director Marc Sprenger and WHO Regional Director for Europe Zsuzsanna Jakab





ABSTRACT

More than 30 Member States in the WHO European Region are in the process of revising their pandemic plans, with two already published. Changes are being made based on lessons learnt from the response to the 2009 pandemic and these follow recommendations from numerous national, regional and global evaluations. The main changes aim to create: 1) more flexible plans that will facilitate the response to pandemics of differing severity 2) strengthened capacity to perform risk assessment and risk communication 3) improved strategies for pandemic vaccine procurement and deployment 4) strengthened surveillance for severe disease associated with influenza and 5) improved communication with front-line responders and the general public. In the area of coordination and leadership, clearer delineation of the roles and responsibilities of national versus local authorities and improvements to intersectoral collaboration are being sought. Many countries reported that they were making such changes but they needed help to sustain momentum and to ensure that plan updates are reflected in improved preparedness at the local level and in generic preparedness.

In these four workshops organized by the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control and the WHO Regional Office for Europe, Member States emphasized the continued need for joint-working and intercountry cooperation in the area of pandemic preparedness, in support of the International Health Regulations (2005) (IHR) and the new Cross Border Threats Initiative proposed by the European Commission. The capacities built as part of pandemic preparedness should benefit preparedness for other public health threats and the core capacities required under IHR, and should be maintained. At the same time it was emphasized that pandemic preparedness needs to be built on stronger responses to seasonal influenza.

Address requests about publications of the WHO Regional Office for Europe to:

Publications

WHO Regional Office for Europe

Scherfigsvej 8

DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

Alternatively, complete an online request form for documentation, health information, or for permission to quote or translate, on the Regional Office web site (http://www.euro.who.int/pubrequest).

© World Health Organization 2012

All rights reserved. The Regional Office for Europe of the World Health Organization welcomes requests for permission to reproduce or translate its publications, in part or in full.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either express or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use. The views expressed by authors, editors, or expert groups do not necessarily represent the decisions or the stated policy of the World Health Organization.

Table of Contents

Introduction	5
Conclusions and recommendations	5
Key changes to national pandemic preparedness plans	6
Intersectoral cooperation, collaboration and leadership	6
The flexibility and adaptability of plans	6
Strategies for vaccines and antivirals.	7
Disease surveillance and monitoring of countermeasures	
Strategies for exchanging information and communicating risk	9
Evaluation of the pandemic response and the transition to seasonal influenza	
Influenza pandemic preparedness as a public health tool	10
Intercountry Collaboration and Interoperability	11
Revision of the "Joint European Pandemic Preparedness Self-Assessment Indicate	ors"
	12
References	
Participants	15

Introduction

In the aftermath of the 2009 influenza (H1N1) pandemic, Member States and international organizations alike have evaluated their response and started to revise their pandemic plans based on the lessons learnt. The WHO Regional Office for Europe (WHO/Europe) and the European Centre for Disease Control (ECDC) jointly organized four workshops on pandemic preparedness in September and November 2011, in order to review the status of this work. A total of 45 Member States participated in the workshops.

The main purposes of the workshops were to summarize the key changes that Member States are making to their pandemic plans and to learn from each others' experience.

In addition, participants discussed areas in which future intercountry collaboration is needed and how WHO/Europe and ECDC could provide support. This included a discussion of the external review of the International Health Regulations (2005) (IHR) and the recommendation that WHO revise the global pandemic guidance (1), as well as the revision of the Joint European Pandemic Preparedness Self-Assessment Indicators (2). Generic preparedness and the implementation of the IHR were discussed with respect to utilizing the capacities built as part of pandemic preparedness. Lastly, developments under the new Cross-Border Threats Initiative of the European Commission for the European Union were presented (3).

Conclusions and recommendations

The workshops highlighted the importance Member States attribute to learning from the experience of the 2009 (H1N1) pandemic and to revising their national pandemic plans.

During the workshops, 28 of the participating 45 countries reported that they had evaluated their response to the pandemic and at least 12 of the evaluations have been published on national web sites (4). In addition, 32 countries reported that they were in the process of revising their national pandemic plans and the revised reports have been published for two countries (5). As most European countries are still in the process of reviewing their plans, the workshops enabled the sharing of good practices among Member States and will provide input to the revision of global and regional pandemic guidance.

The workshops also concluded that future pandemic preparedness planning would be facilitated by:

- the exchange of information and best practices among Member States on changes that
 are being implemented in planning, which should be continued through intercountry
 meetings and the establishment of networks supported by WHO/Europe and ECDC;
- developing combined approaches, such as the Pandemic Influenza Preparedness
 Framework for the sharing of influenza viruses and access to vaccines and other
 benefits ("PIP Framework") (6), and the European Commission work on the joint
 procurement of pandemic vaccine;
- the revision of the WHO global pandemic guidance, particularly concerning the phases and severity assessment;
- the revision of the Joint European Pandemic Preparedness Self-Assessment Indicators:
- strengthening of the response to interpandemic (seasonal) influenza through improved surveillance, laboratory capacity, immunization and communication as a basis for a stronger pandemic response; and
- the use of the experience gained in pandemic planning and response for other public health threats, as part of generic preparedness and IHR implementation.

The above is described in more detail in the following sections.

Key changes to national pandemic preparedness plans

The changes being made to pandemic plans follow to a large extent the findings from some evaluations performed by countries, as well as the two EU-wide assessments (TOR1 and TOR2) (7), the WHO/Europe evaluation of pandemic preparedness (8), the external review of the IHR (1) and of ECDC's response to the pandemic (9). The changes address primarily the following areas:

- intersectoral cooperation, collaboration and leadership
- flexibility and adaptability of plans
- strategies for vaccines and antivirals
- disease surveillance and monitoring of countermeasures
- strategies for exchanging information and communicating risk
- evaluation of the pandemic response and the transition to seasonal influenza.

Intersectoral cooperation, collaboration and leadership

Intersectoral and interinstitutional commitment (including the health sector) proved to be useful and supported interministerial crisis management. However, there is a need for a broader participatory approach within the health care sector between public and private health care and across governmental sectors. Pandemic plans did not always identify the correct person to coordinate the overall response or there was doubt about roles and responsibilities of governmental actors, at national and subnational levels, leading to duplication and waste of resources.

Changes to pandemic plans will address the following issues:

- Improved intersectoral cooperation and coordination in the pandemic planning process will take place at national and subnational levels. This may include reviewing legislation related to private versus public health care. Coordination will be improved by the sharing of pandemic preparedness plans with relevant sectors at different administrative levels within countries.
- More effective ways of communicating technical issues to decision-makers will be adopted, allowing them to make appropriate decisions on response measures to be taken. This may take the form of a pandemic preparedness and response plan developed specifically for decision-makers.
- Epidemic laws will be evaluated to identify and address gaps within and across sectors, with respect to decisions that need to be taken during a pandemic.
- Representation from other governmental sectors (energy, law enforcement, etc.) will be increased in the decision-making process.
- A clearer delineation will be made of the roles and responsibilities of national versus local authorities, with respect to decisions that are being integrated within plans (this includes governance and accountability arrangements). Some countries are considering whether a ministry other than health should lead the response to a pandemic.
- Transparency of the decision-making process will be increased, especially in relation to vaccine procurement.

The flexibility and adaptability of plans

National pandemic plans were usually based on a single scenario that was more severe than the actual 2009 pandemic, and that was extrapolated from the severity of previous pandemics and the

possibility that H5N1 would cause the next pandemic. Plans that include a range of scenarios would be more flexible. With respect to triggers for implementing response measures, countries relied largely on the declaration by WHO of the phases, rather than the actual severity. However, the six phases describe the spread of the pandemic at a global level and did not relate well to national and local variability in the progression or severity of the pandemic. Plans did not take into account the need to respond locally according to the actual situation, which was not uniform within or between countries.

Changes to pandemic plans will address the following issues:

- Plans will include a range of planning scenarios (e.g. unknown, mild, moderate and severe) and be less prescriptive in the actual response measures to be implemented. The goal is to increase flexibility by addressing the response needed for pandemics of differing severity.
- The triggers to respond at national or subnational levels will not necessarily follow the declaration of phases by WHO at the global level.
- Country-level, risk assessment-based approaches will be developed and applied on an ongoing basis during the pandemic to determine the severity and impact of the pandemic over time, with respect to the international situation and also within country. This approach allows a continuous review of response measures and will facilitate decisions on their escalation and de-escalation. It envisages different phases of action within a country. For example the revised United Kingdom Influenza Pandemic Preparedness Strategy 2011 describes five phases: detection, assessment, treatment, escalation, recovery (5).
- Response management plans will recognize the potential need to apply different response measures at different times, and to a different extent, within a country, according to the local situation. This will increase the adaptability of pandemic plans and the response, allow for better planning for capacities and thus make better use of resources.
- The response strategy will be based on existing capacity (human and material resources) and guidance will be developed for better local response management (e.g. vaccination campaigns at local level and strategies for storage and delivery of medicines).
- Real-time electronic data collection will be established, as will reporting systems for rapid dissemination of information across sectors on early assessment, severity, spread of the pandemic, etc.

Strategies for vaccines and antivirals

Countries experienced numerous difficulties in relation to the procurement, prioritization, delivery and communication of the risk versus benefits of pandemic vaccine. Although national plans for pandemic vaccine existed, these had to be adjusted, due to the mildness of the pandemic, from targeting the whole population to vaccination of risk groups only. Countries had to reassess the risk groups for vaccination, as not all had considered pregnant women. As a result, the responsibility for the vaccination campaign, as well as the mode of delivery and logistics (e.g. national mass vaccination) campaign versus local delivery using existing mechanisms for seasonal influenza vaccination), had to be rethought. There was a delay in delivery of vaccines, especially in countries dependent on WHO donations, which complicated the prioritization of vaccine delivery. In general, there was insufficient planning of the detailed logistics of vaccine delivery according to different scenarios. In light of these difficulties, communicating the risk versus benefits of pandemic vaccine was considered extremely difficult and some countries reported a loss of public confidence in vaccination, in general.

With respect to antivirals (oseltamivir), in some countries stockpiles were under-utilized and plans were not in place for rotational use. National Regulatory Authorities in some countries did not approve the extension of the shelf-life of oseltamivir and stocks had to be destroyed. Although optimal use of oseltamivir requires rapid treatment (within 48 hours after symptom onset), in some countries their use by clinicians required laboratory confirmation, which delayed their administration.

Changes to pandemic plans will address the following issues:

- To ensure there is capacity to conduct mass pandemic vaccination campaigns and other large scale interventions, such as the distribution of antivirals and essential medicines, preparedness and capacities should be built into all systems, down to the local level.
- Operational vaccine deployment plans will be established as part of pandemic preparedness planning. These plans will include communication strategies for pandemic vaccines.
- Vaccination strategies will take into account the need to adapt according to the severity of the pandemic, the actual situation in the country and the availability of vaccine, in order to better target at-risk populations in a timely and equitable fashion and to increase vaccine coverage. These strategies will include targeted communications to increase public confidence and trust in influenza vaccination.
- More timely vaccine procurement will be facilitated through flexible contracts and joint vaccine procurement, e.g. among EU Member States, and possibly between other groups of countries in the WHO European Region.
- Countries in which the decisions on pandemic vaccination lie with local rather than
 national governments are reviewing this system in order to avoid the implementation of
 different vaccination programmes within one country.
- To optimize the use of existing antiviral stockpiles and ensure continuous availability, countries will develop a strategic antiviral reserve for the treatment and prophylaxis of seasonal influenza.
- Countries will reconsider pre-pandemic antiviral stockpiling targets.
- Countries will improve the application of influenza diagnostics, with the goal of not delaying early antiviral treatment.
- Monitoring of vaccine policies, up-take and adverse-events should be improved through the establishment of national vaccine registries.
- National vaccine registries should be linked with systems monitoring vaccine effectiveness at both national and local levels.

Disease surveillance and monitoring of countermeasures

While routine surveillance exists in the majority of countries in the European Region for mild disease associated with influenza (acute respiratory infections or ARI and influenza-like illness or ILI), countries had to rely on national notifications of laboratory confirmed cases for estimates of hospitalized cases and deaths. This led to an underestimation of the true burden of disease caused by the pandemic. In addition, more effective ways of communicating technical issues to decision-makers, such as surveillance and monitoring data and severity must be identified.

Regarding the monitoring of countermeasures, systems exist for monitoring vaccine uptake, detecting potential adverse events following immunization and estimating vaccine effectiveness. However, all these systems exhibited significant gaps. Additionally, measures implemented by some countries to slow the spread of the pandemic, such as contact tracing, provision of antiviral chemoprophylaxis and school closures, were not always considered effective.

Changes to pandemic plans will address the following issues:

- Countries are in the process of improving their surveillance systems for severe disease
 associated with influenza by introducing routine surveillance in hospitals. This will allow
 for better assessment of disease burden and determination of risk factors for severe
 disease, which will support the ongoing risk assessment needed in a pandemic.
- The role of laboratory networks in diagnostics and surveillance in a pandemic must be more clearly defined to better prioritize testing and resources in a pandemic.
- Clinicians networks for severe respiratory infections should be established, in order to enhance the sharing of clinical, virological and epidemiological data to improve the clinical management of patients and to better define pandemic severity over time.
- The capacity to perform seroepidemiological studies should be strengthened to predict the impact of a pandemic.
- Improvements should be made to mortality monitoring through more timely availability, access and analysis of national mortality statistics, and through participation in intercountry projects such as the European Mortality Monitoring Project (EuroMOMO) (10).
- Some countries will not include a containment phase in their plan, nor will they consider school closures.
- Review and update legislation related to strengthening surveillance (e.g. mandatory notification of cases), monitoring systems and the primary health care level-related death report, as an important pandemic countermeasure.

Strategies for exchanging information and communicating risk

Member States identified a strong need to improve communication and information sharing with professionals involved in the pandemic response, with the general public and the media. There was a lack of awareness among policy and decision-makers of the opinions and beliefs about the pandemic among the public and health care professionals, as well as a lack of coordinated communication with the media in some countries. There was a lack of awareness and engagement to counteract misinformation or disinformation spread through new and social media.

Changes to pandemic plans will address the following issues:

- Approaches to communication and information strategies will be centralized, including the use of telephone hot-lines (24/7) in order to provide consistent messages. This will facilitate the exchange of information and communication of risk to front-line responders and the general public in a way that will avoid anxiety and promote informed decisions.
- Representatives of health care workers and professional organizations will be included in the plan revision process to ensure that their view on communication and the information they will require will be taken into account.
- Communication with primary health care workers will be improved through both established and new channels (e.g. disease specific networks, forums and meetings).
- The use of social media will be incorporated into communications strategies for advocacy work and reaching risk groups (i.e. for vaccine campaigns), particularly young people.
- Communication between national and local authorities will be improved through selective channels during the planning and response phases, promoting message uniformity and consistency, and avoiding overload.
- More active management of information will take place through advance identification of key information requirements, pre-pandemic briefings with the media (to better use them

- as tool to communicate with and pass messages to the public) and designation of spokespersons.
- Information sharing and communication will be a two-way process with feedback loops in place and methods developed to monitor the opinions and beliefs of groups targeted for communication and information. These changes will be made with input from social scientists experienced in risk communication and behaviour change.
- The management of information at the hospital level will be improved using a national electronic situational awareness tool and by providing regular feedback to health care professionals on the local (and global) situation.
- Communication strategies for the public will be more open, clear and convincing, with an important focus being to strengthen population knowledge on vaccines, immunization and immunity.

Evaluation of the pandemic response and the transition to seasonal influenza

Countries reported that evaluations of response measures implemented during the 2009 pandemic were hindered by the lack of planning for this work, political sensitivities and legal issues. Additionally, too little attention was paid to the recovery phase and to the transition to seasonal influenza. In some countries, the first post-pandemic season in 2011-2012 was similar in severity to the pandemic itself.

Changes to pandemic plans will address the following issues:

- High-level agreement on the need to evaluate the response to a pandemic will be obtained during the pandemic planning process. This evaluation will address cost-effectiveness and timeliness, and it should preferably be an external evaluation.
- Pandemic plans will include methods to evaluate the impact and cost–effectiveness of response measures.
- Staff will be designated and time-limited milestones set as part of the pandemic preparedness plan revision and the involvement of persons at the operational level will be outlined during the revision process.
- A technical team will be established to monitor and evaluate the pandemic influenza preparedness plan within the existing resources. The team will use standardized methodology.
- Pandemic plans will include a section describing the management of the recovery phase and the preparations for the transition to seasonal influenza.

Influenza pandemic preparedness as a tool to strengthen generic preparedness

In the aftermath of the 2009 pandemic, countries are applying the lessons learnt and the capacities built to strengthen generic preparedness (12) and the implementation of IHR core capacities. Some countries will no longer have a national pandemic plan but rather a pandemic-specific section attached to a generic preparedness plan. Other countries are developing preparedness plans for influenza prevention and control programmes that encompass seasonal as well as pandemic influenza. These are necessary steps at a time of economic crisis and the concomitant reduction of available resources and political commitment after the experience of a relatively mild pandemic. Response operations and structures developed as part of pandemic preparedness can be applied to generic preparedness. This would be facilitated by the establishment of a formal and cross-sectoral

emergency response coordination committee, with clearly defined roles and responsibilities. For example, some countries are working on a public security plan that involves Ministries of Health and Foreign Affairs, as well as hospital services. Others are integrating their pandemic preparedness plan within a Ministry of Health platform for Civil Emergencies.

National early warning platforms established for epidemic intelligence and for case-based data that were used to coordinate between the public health sector, health care systems and specialist groups during the pandemic can be applied to other health threats. Cross-sectional crisis and coordination groups and information channels established at national, regional and local levels for the pandemic, creating a network where regular meetings and decision-making take place, can be used to strengthen generic preparedness. The development of a pandemic risk and crisis communication plan sustainable for short- to long-term crisis management can be extended towards generic preparedness. Laboratory capacity and surveillance systems strengthened for early identification of new influenza viruses can serve to detect other emerging communicable disease threats. Operational guidance developed for better local response management (e.g. pandemic vaccination campaigns at local level, plans for surge capacity for health care in a pandemic and essential medicines stockpiling/use) can be applied beyond influenza pandemics.

National legislation can further help pandemic preparedness move towards a generic preparedness approach, e.g. by requiring every hospital to have a general crisis plan in place. Mandatory quarantine laws used in the 2009 pandemic can also be applied to other health threats.

Regarding seasonal influenza prevention and control programmes, increasing seasonal vaccination coverage is important, as it will increase the understanding of influenza vaccinations in general and should also increase influenza vaccine production capacity. Application of a risk assessment-methodology to each influenza season will strengthen the capacity to perform an assessment during a pandemic.

Intercountry Collaboration and Interoperability

Member States' experience from the 2009 (H1N1) pandemic shows that cross-border collaboration in pandemic preparedness and response was extremely useful, as it allowed countries to share information and enhance their interoperability. Indeed, sharing information is explicit in the International Health Regulations (2005) (1) and current EU legislation (11).

Activities that promoted intercountry collaboration and interoperability in Europe before and during the pandemic include: cross-border exercises, intercountry pandemic planning meetings and country assessment visits supported by ECDC, WHO/Europe and the European Commission; the establishment of cross-border networks, such as the early warning response system (EWRS) network, informal networks and expert advice (e.g. WHO networks and the Flu section of the Health Security Committee of the European Union); and formal working groups established between similar language-speaking countries among which pandemic plans and best practices were shared. Collaboration with countries outside of Europe contributed to the development of an early risk assessment with respect to transmission, severity and impact.

Member States requested that intercountry collaboration continue in the following areas, supported by ECDC and WHO/Europe:

- continued sharing of pandemic preparedness plans, best practices and experience between countries, through the organization of meetings and/or working groups focused on specific topics, and through networks of experts;
- development of a combined approach for increasing vaccine access both within country and cross-border; and
- creation of an inventory of medicines and equipment by countries, which can be shared with other countries during a pandemic, in order to provide support when possible.

In addition, Member States requested that WHO and ECDC continue to provide guidance for

pandemic preparedness planning. The revision of the 2009 WHO pandemic guidance is urgently awaited by European countries to ensure that national plans are not divergent from global standards. This revision is planned as part of the implementation of the recommendations of the independent review of the IHR. For Member States of the WHO European Region, guidance and agreement on the following aspects is particularly critical:

- key definitions of a pandemic (what is meant by severity, containment, early assessment, etc.);
- defining the role of early assessment, containment and mitigation once a pandemic is spreading worldwide;
- the application of methodologies to pandemics for the annual risk assessment of seasonal influenza epidemics;
- intercountry research activities on antivirals and vaccines, population immunity and individual level immune responses to different subtypes of influenza, and the acceptance and effectiveness of non-pharmaceutical interventions; and
- improving Member States' accessibility to international data on human cases infected with zoonotic influenza viruses.

At the EU-level, the new Cross Border Threats Initiative proposed by the European Commission will play a leading role in determining intercountry cooperation and obligations with respect to cross-border health threats, while taking into account existing public health structures, in particular the IHR. The Cross Border Threats Initiative aims to:

- close existing gaps through a multisectoral coordinated approach;
- coordinate EU Member States' activities for implementation of IHR core capacities (sharing experiences and resources, interoperability of national preparedness plans);
- develop indicators to monitor national implementation;
- institute joint procurement of medical countermeasures; and
- provide for risk assessment and management of serious cross border health threats.

Once adopted, the Cross Border Threats Initiative will include updating of the EU pandemic preparedness plan, which describes the roles and responsibilities of the EU Member States, the European Commission and community agencies during a pandemic, as well as in the case of other threats such as biological, chemical, environmental, etc.

WHO/Europe and ECDC are working jointly to help EU Member States implement the IHR through identifying country needs and providing technical support.

Revision of the "Joint European Pandemic Preparedness Self-Assessment Indicators"

Member States agreed that the "Joint European Pandemic Preparedness Self-Assessment Indicators" should be reviewed. The indicators were developed prior to the 2009 pandemic by a Member States' experts group, WHO/Europe, ECDC and the European Commission. They were intended mainly as a self-assessment tool for Member States to identify gaps in national pandemic plans, but with a component to provide information to ECDC and WHO/Europe regarding progress being made. This would then enable support to Member States to be tailored to their needs. An earlier version of the indicators was used extensively to inform country visits by ECDC and WHO/Europe to externally assess pandemic preparedness.

In the light of the lessons learnt from the pandemic, it was agreed that the indicators were mainly useful as a national planning guide and to identify gaps, which could be shared with ECDC and WHO/Europe to prioritize support and inform country visits. Participants also considered that having an agreed list of indicators at the European level was useful, as knowing what other countries were planning for helped them to advocate for resources in their own country.

The participants considered the indicators to be less useful as a tool to measure and compare the level of preparedness between countries, as different countries have different administrative structures and health care systems (e.g. centrally versus locally funded and led). However, it would be useful to define and share at the European level certain indicators, good practice or policies, so that countries would be forewarned about differences, e.g. with respect to vaccination strategies. Countries could then consider coordinating their communications on such issues.

The participants agreed that instead of indicators, it would be more useful to develop a tool describing the main areas for consideration in pandemic preparedness planning. Each country may then add its own criteria, indicators or outcomes for determining whether something is in place. The tool should be applicable to local as well as national preparedness and should indicate where pandemic preparedness overlaps with generic preparedness and with IHR core capacities. As requested by the Member States during the workshops, the indicators are currently being revised by a working group of Member States' experts, supported by ECDC and WHO/Europe.

References

Ref 1 External review of the pandemic response http://www.who.int/ihr/en/

Ref 2 Joint European Pandemic Preparedness Self-Assessment Indicators http://www.euro.who.int/en/what-we-do/health-topics/communicable-diseases/influenza/publications/2010/joint-european-pandemic-preparedness-self-assessment-indicators and http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/press/news/Lists/News/ECDC DispForm.aspx?List=32e43ee8-e230-

Ref 3 Details of the Health Security Initiative

4424-a783-85742124029a&ID=354

http://ec.europa.eu/health/preparedness_response/consultations/preparedness_cons_02_en.htm

Ref 4 Overview of published evaluations of the response to the 2009 pandemic http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/healthtopics/pandemic_preparedness/pandemic_2009_evaluations/Pages/pandemic_2009_evaluations.aspx

Ref 5 Revised pandemic plans of France and the United Kingdom http://www.euro.who.int/en/what-we-do/health-topics/communicable-diseases/influenza/news/news/2011/12/two-countries-in-the-who-european-region-publish-revised-pandemic-preparedness-plans and ECDC Public Health Development November 2011 http://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/activities/sciadvice/Lists/ECDC%20Reviews/ECDC_DispForm.asp x?List=512ff74f-77d4-4ad8-b6d6-bf0f23083f30&ID=1226

Ref 6 The Pandemic Influenza Preparedness Framework for the sharing of influenza viruses and access to vaccines and other benefits http://www.who.int/influenza/pip/en/

Ref 7 The Commission working document on lessons learnt from the H1N1 pandemic http://ec.europa.eu/health/preparedness_response/docs/commission_staff_lessonsh1n1_en.pdf

Ref 8 Recommendations for Good Practice in Pandemic Preparedness http://www.euro.who.int/en/what-we-do/health-topics/communicable-diseases/influenza/publications/2010/recommendations-for-good-practice-in-pandemic-preparedness-identified-through-evaluation-of-the-response-to-pandemic-h1n1-2009

Ref 9 Review of ECDC's response to the influenza pandemic 2009/10 http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/241111COR Pandemic response.pdf

Ref 10 The European Mortality Monitoring Project http://www.euromomo.eu/

Ref 11 The Commission Communication on Pandemic Influenza Preparedness and Response Planning in the European Community http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/site/en/com/2005/com2005 0607en01.pdf

Ref 12 Work of the European Commission on generic preparedness http://ec.europa.eu/health/preparedness_response/generic_preparedness/index_en.htm

Ref 13 Nicoll, Brown, Van Tam, Karcher et al., Developing pandemic preparedness in Europe in the 21st century: experience, evolution and next steps in Pandemic Preparedness in the 21st Century (special edition) Bulletin of WHO 2012 (in press)

Participants

Member States

Stockholm (Sweden) 1 – 2nd September 2011

Inna Karaban (Belarus), Thea Kölsen (Denmark), Tyra Grove Krause (Denmark), Kuulo Kutsar (Estonia), Eeva-Riitta Ruotsalainen (Finland), Thedi Ziegler (Finland), Olita Kravcenko (Latvia), Loreta Ašoklienė (Lithuania), Liudmila Tsybalova (Russian Federation), Mikael Magnusson (Sweden), Gunnar Nylen (Sweden), Anders Tegnell (Sweden), Kostiantyn Legeza (Ukraine), Viktor Liashko (Ukraine), Jo Newstead (United Kingdom), Nick Phin (United Kingdom)

Lisbon (Portugal) 8 – 9th September 2011

Paul Pardon (Belgium), Renata Hakova (Czech Republic), Jan Kynčl (Czech Republic), Annicka Reuss (Germany), Beatrix Oroszi (Hungary), Michal Ilnicki (Poland), Maria da Graça (Portugal), Ana Leça (Portugal), Isabel Marinho Falcão (Portugal), Carlos Orta Gomes (Portugal), Teresa Paixao (Portugal), Cristina Santos (Portugal), Paula Valente (Portugal), Paula Vasconcelos (Portugal), Laura Turkan (Republic of Moldova), Henrieta Hudečková (Slovakia), Heinrich Lehmann (Switzerland), Andre Jacobi (The Netherlands)

Athens (Greece) 22 – 23rd September 2011

Mariani Eralda (Albania), Robert Muchl (Austria), Mira Kojouharova (Bulgaria), Florence Allot (France), Ariel Beresniak (France), Liljana Lazarevska (Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia), Agoritsa Baka (Greece), Dimitris Iliopoulos (Greece), Jenny Kremastinou (Greece), Anastasia Pantazopoulou (Greece), Georgia Spala (Greece), Sotirios Tsiodras (Greece), Helen Maltezou (Greece), Dora Hennessy (Ireland), Darina Oflanagan (Ireland), Ehud Kaliner (Israel), Isme Humolli (Kosovo), Tanya Melillo (Malta), Aleksandra Nikolic (Montenegro), Dragana Dimitrijevic (Serbia), Tatjana Frelih (Slovenia), Marta Cortes (Spain), Mustafa Bahadir Sucakli (Turkey)

Istanbul (Turkey) 14-15th November 2011

Liana Torosyan (Armenia), Emin Babayev (Azerbaijan), Serifa Godinjak (Bosnia and Herzegovina), Giorgi Chakhunashvili, Khatuna Zakashvili (Georgia), Aizhan Yesmagambetova (Kazakhstan), Zuridin Nurmatov (Kyrgyzstan), Navruz Dzhafarov (Tajikistan), Gurbangul Ovliyakulova (Turkmenistan), Ravshan Rakhimov (Uzbekistan)

Secretariat

European Commission Helmut Walerius, Franz Karcher

ECDC

Massimo Ciotti, Lucie Jean-Gilles, Angus Nicoll, Pasi Penttinen, Sybille Rehmet, Emmanuel Robesyn, Francisco Santos

WHO Geneva

Hande Fatos-Harmanci, Martin Muita, Adrienne Rashford (Geneva),

WHO Regional Office for Europe

Ganna Bolokhovets, Caroline S. Brown, Michala Hegermann-Lindencrone

WHO Country Offices

Elkhan Gasimov (Azerbaijan), Craig Hamilton (Tajikistan), Giorgi Kurtsikashvili (Georgia), Irina Papieva (Armenia), Anna Pashalishvili (Uzbekistan), Mark Witschi (Kyrgyzstan)

WHO collaborating centre for pandemic influenza and research (University of Nottingham, United Kingdom)

Jonathan Nguyen-Van-Tam, Sophie Newitt, Richard Puleston

This report was prepared by: Lucie.Jean-Gilles, Angus Nicoll and Pasi Pentinnen (ECDC) and Caroline Brown (WHO/Europe)

Please address correspondence related to this report to Lucie.Jean-Gilles@ecdc.europa.eu, Pasi.Penttinen@ecdc.europa.eu and Caroline Brown at cbr@euro.who.int. A full meeting report is available upon request.